, .. 

'r··-~-·. ~r --:~~- 1~~.7 -~:\ 
i , f ' 

s. Ct. No. (\~lJ)~lo -S 
; ~; ,: I -': t ·< 

Court of Appeals Div. III, File No. 319121 
,.i. ')j. ,I,, ',:1. ,, 

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION III 

STAR F. CRILL, individually, -FILED 
\::: 

Plaintiff/Petitioner, JAN - 5 2016 0Dr=:
WASHINGToN STA~\J 

SUPREME COURT vs. 

WRBF INC. d/b/a DENNY'S RESTAURANT; DEBRA FOUTS and JAC 
DOE FOUTS, individually and as a marital community; JERRY FOUTS 

and JANE DOE FOUTS, individually and as a marital community, 
DENNY'S INC., a California Corporation; JACKIE D. LEGERE, Jr.; 

AUSTIN GARNER, 

Defendants/Respondents. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This Court has approved Restatement (Second) of Torts § 344 and 

comment f ( 1965) as generally consistent with Washington law. See 

McKown v. Simon Property Group, Inc., 182 Wn.2d 752,770,344 P.3d 661 

(20 15). Restatement § 344 describes the duty owed by a public business to 

protect customers and holds such businesses liable for: 

... physical harm caused by the accidental, negligent, or 
intentionally harmful acts of third persons or animals, and by the 
failure of the possessor to exercise reasonable care to (a) 
discover that such acts are being done or are likely to be done, 
or (b) give a warning adequate to enable the visitors to avoid the 
harm, or otherwise to protect them against it. 

Comment f provides further explanation: 

f Duty to police premises. Since the possessor is not an insurer of 
the visitor's safety, he is ordinarily under no duty to exercise any 
care until he knows or has reason to know that the acts of the third 
person are occurring, or are about to occur. He may, however, 
know or have reason to know, from past experience, that there is a 
likelihood of conduct on the part of third persons in general which 
is likely to endanger the safety of the visitor, even though he has 
no reason to expect it on the part of any particular individual. If the 
place or character of his business, or his past experience, is such 
that he should reasonably anticipate careless or criminal conduct 
on the part of third persons, either generally or at some particular 
time, he may be under a duty to take precautions against it, and to 
provide a reasonably sufficient number of servants to afford a 
reasonable protection. 

Restatement § 344 and comment f contemplate "two kinds of 

situations that may give rise to a duty-the first is where the landowner 

knows or has reason to know of immediate or imminent harm, and the 



second is where the possessor of land knows, or has reason to know, based 

on the landowner's past experience, the place of the business, or the 

character of the business, there is a likelihood that harmful conduct of third 

parties will occur on his premises." McKown, 182 Wn.2d at 768 (emphasis 

in original.) In McKown, the Court addressed the existence of a duty based 

on the landowner's past experience. See id. at 771-74. The Court 

specifically reserved ruling on the existence of a duty based on the character 

of the business. See id. at 770 n.6 & 774. The Court seemed to recognize, 

but did not otherwise address, the existence of a duty based on the 

imminence ofharm. See id. at 768. 

This case involves the existence of a duty based on character ofthe 

business and the imminence of harm, which were mentioned but not directly 

analyzed in McKown. Petitioner Star F. Crill (Crill) was assaulted and 

seriously injured by drunk patrons of a Denny's Restaurant located on 

Argonne Road in Spokane and operated by Respondent WRBF, Inc. 

(WRBF). Denny's is open 24 hours a day and caters to patrons of nearby 

bars after the bars close for the night. "It is well known throughout the 

Denny's 'system' that argumentative and assaultive conduct is a common 

occurrence and highly foreseeable when soliciting an after-bar clientele 

between the hours of 11 :00 p.m. and 4:00 a.m." CP 215. Staff and 

management at the Argonne Denny's were aware ofthe risk. CP 65, 369 & 
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382. Crill contends that this knowledge based on the character of the 

business should give rise to a duty to exercise reasonable care. 

Crill also contends that a duty to exercise reasonable care should 

arise from knowledge of the imminence ofharm, based on prior interactions 

between WRBF staff and the persons who assaulted Crill. This case does 

not involve a shocking and sudden event like an unpredictable racially 

motivated shooting; rather this case involves a risk of assault that emerged 

over the course of many minutes and several warnings prior to the actual 

assault. 

However, the Court of Appeals below held that WRBF had no duty 

as a matter of law. See Crill v. WRBF, Inc., noted at 189 Wn. App. 1052, 

available at 2015 WL 5166363 (Wn. App., Div. III, Sept. 3, 2015). In 

declining to recognize a duty based on the character of the business, the 

appellate court seemed to conflate the character of the business with the past 

experience ofthe business and the imminence ofharm. See Crill, 2015 WL 

5166363, at * 16. With respect to the imminence of harm, the court did not 

view the facts in the light most favorable to Crill as the nonmoving party on 

summary judgment. See id. at *12-13. On both counts, the decision reveals 

a lack of clarity regarding character of the business and imminence of harm 

as bases for imposing a duty of reasonable care. 
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The decision below presents issues of substantial public interest that 

should be determined by this Court, warranting review under RAP 

13 .4(b )( 4 ). Businesses deserve fair notice of the circumstances under which 

they have an obligation to protect customers from the risk of harm from 

third persons, and lower courts and counsel need guidance regarding the 

proper interpretation and application of the duty under Restatement § 344 

and comment f 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Star F. Crill ("Crill") asks this court to accept review of 

the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated below. 

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

A copy of the Court of Appeals decision, filed September 3, 2015, 

is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition at pages A-1 to A-36. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Can knowledge of the risk of harm based on the "character of a 
business" give rise to a duty to protect a business visitor from the risk 
of assault? 

B. Can knowledge ofthe "imminence of harm" to customers give rise to a 
duty to protect those business visitors from the impending risk? 

C. Did Crill present sufficient evidence to the trial court to require 
analysis of whether or not the character of defendant's business gave 
rise to a duty to protect her from the risk of assault? 

D. Did Crill present sufficient evidence to the trial court to create a triable 
issue of fact concerning whether the defendant knew or should have 
known of immediate or imminent harm? 
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V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Background facts. 

1. Knowledge of risk based on character of business 

Denny's Restaurant on Argonne, one of several Denny's 

Restaurants owned by Defendant/Respondent WRBF, Inc., is located less 

than a half mile from Good Tymes Bar and Grill. The Argonne Denny's is 

open 24 hours per day. As such, the Argonne Denny's is subject to the "bar 

rush" phenomenon that results on weekend nights from the closure of a 

nearby bar and the stream of customers who then appear at the nearby 

Denny's. Lovins depo., CP 396:4-6. Not only are the employees and 

management aware of this phenomenon, but they discuss as part of their 

training how to handle disruptive customers. Liberg Depo., CP 369:17-21; 

CP 382:9-11; Winter declaration, CP 65:6-8. The more intoxicated the 

customers are, the more likely they are to "cause problems," including the 

potential for physical violence. Lovins Depo., CP 405:3-5; Declaration of 

Fred Del Marva, CP 216:12-18. 

It is also well known to owners of restaurants in the Denny's 

"system" that remaining open during the late-night hours risks special 

security problems; they arise from the fact that "argumentative and 

assaultive conduct is a common occurrence and highly foreseeable when 

soliciting an after-bar clientele between the hours of 11 :00 p.m. and 4:00 

a.m." Del Marva Decl., CP 215:24-26. As a result, a prudent owner of a 
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restaurant such as the Argonne Denny's will employ a specially trained 

manager to be on duty during the late night hours in order to identify 

intoxicated customers at the time of entry and take appropriate measures to 

insure the safety of restaurant customers. Del Marva Decl., CP 216:28-

217:2. 

On the night of January 2, 2009 and the early morning hours of 

January 3, 2009 (Friday night/Saturday morning), the Argonne Denny's did 

not have a manager on duty. 1 Instead, one of the servers, Maryquince 

Winter, attempted to fulfill the role of acting manager while at the same 

time acting as a server. Winter Depo., CP 309:24-310:1. 

2. Knowledge of risk based on imminence of harm 

Austin Gamer had been drinking at the Good Tymes Bar and Grill 

prior to its closing at 2 a.m. on January 3, 2009. Gamer Depo., CP 204:10-

12. He could not remember whether he had consumed between one and six 

alcoholic beverages. CP 204:10-12. A later arresting officer reported 

smelling the odor of alcoholic beverages on his person, and behavior 

consistent with someone under the influence of alcohol. CP 48. Another 

1 Maryquince Winter testified that on the night in question the manager who 
was scheduled did not come to work because of "an issue with flooding at 
his house." CP 65:14-15. There is no evidence that the Argonne Denny's 
made any effort to find a replacement for the manager, but simply expected 
Winter to "fill in as needed in a management role" while also fulfilling her 
duties as a server. CP 65:3-4. 
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person in Gamer's party, Jackie D. Legere, was also "very drunk." Crill 

depo., CP 29:10-13. 

Gamer and his friends, slurring their words and cursing within five 

minutes of entering the restaurant, were seated in the restaurant in a booth 

immediately behind Crill and her friend Mario Diaz. Crill depo} CP 28-

30. Although Crill and Diaz were speaking in a normal tone of voice about 

general topics, including politics, Gamer's friend Legere spoke in a loud 

voice and repeatedly interfered with the conversation between Crill and 

Diaz telling them to "shut the f*** up." Crill depo., CP 30:5-6. Right after 

they were seated next to each other, a fellow server warned the server filling 

double duty as a server and manager, Maryquince Winter, that "there may 

be a problem with some patrons seated in booths along the windows." CP 

65: 17-18. Winter went to "observe the situation" but decided no action was 

needed after that first warning. CP 65:21. According to the police 

statement, Legere admitted telling the Crill booth during this confrontation 

"I don't want to hear about your n**ger way of life!" CP 49. 3 Later after 

2 Star Crill was married to Slade Seehawer June 13, 2010. By the time of 
the deposition she had changed her name, but the lawsuit was initiated in 
her maiden name. 
3 Jason Liberg, WRBF manager in 2009, admitted their policy required 
WRBF staff to remove any person from the restaurant who was making 
racial epithets toward another customer. Liberg depo., CP 384. Larry 
Lovins, current and past manager of the WRBF restaurant, concurred 
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Winter heard their raised voices herself she "told them all to quiet down, 

and settle down, or leave." CP 66:5-6. Three to four minutes later, the 

Gamer booth got progressively louder in confronting Crill and her friend. 

CP 30-31. After leaving the area to seat some other customers once more 

another server warned Winter that the Gamer party had been cursing at 

someone in the Criii party and that someone at the tables was no longer 

seated but was standing up. CP 66:7-8; CP 324:5-6. Winter now 

acknowledged that "there was a situation" but instead of separating the 

tables or asking either party to leave Winter merely warned the Gamer 

booth, "I can tell from your tone, I'm going to have to ask you to leave." 

CP 324. Winter then left again to resume waiting on other tables. CP 311-

12. For two more minutes the confrontation escalates. Crill looked around 

for help, while Winter was on the other side of the restaurant. CP 318-19. 

Winter returned to the Gamer booth a third time and told them to leave. She 

then left the Crill party alone with Gamer and his friends while she went to 

call 911. CP 312. While Winter was calling 911, Gamer assaulted Crill. 

CP 49. Gamer had punched Crill in the back of the neck at the base of the 

skull that caused a "knot on her head" (CP 52) resulting in permanent 

injuries, including psychological and cognitive deficits. CP 8-9. 

racial slurs between customers would "immediately" be a problem. 
Lovins depo., CP 405. 
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B. Procedural history. 

Crill timely filed a complaint for damages on December 13, 2011. 

CP 3-9. On May 8, 2013 defendant WRBF filed a motion for summary 

judgment, contending that WRBF had no prior knowledge of criminal 

conduct at the Argonne Denny's and that the complaint should be dismissed 

as a matter of law. CP 21:4-5. In support of its motion, WRBF submitted 

the Declaration of Don Wold, the General Manager at the Argonne Denny's, 

who described a "manager's log" that would contain reports of incidents 

relating to fights or assaults in the restaurant. CP 62:5-8. He testified that 

there were no incidents relating to fights or assaults between late September 

2008 and the first of January, 2009. CP 62:5-8. 

In response, plaintiff submitted a brief in opposition to summary 

judgment, including the declaration of Fred Del Marva, an expert qualified 

to testify concerning the restaurant industry generally, and the policies 

followed by Denny's Restaurants in particular. In his declaration Del 

Marva described the "completely different crowd" that patronizes a late-

night restaurant and the security measures that the Denny's "system" 

recognizes must be employed in order to ensure the safety of their 

customers. CP 215:24-216:25. In his expert testimony Del Marva 

referenced an article from the Restaurant News dated December 2, 2007, 

which was entitled "Restaurants open themselves up to greater risks with 
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later hours." CP 231-37. The article was attached with his declaration as 

Exhibit 8 (and is reproduced in the appendix to this brief). !d. It included 

a report of the fatal stabbing of a Denny's waitress in Florida, and a 

statement by Mike Jank, the vice president of risk management for the 520 

Denny's company stores and 947 franchised restaurants, stating "I just hope 

operators realize they are going to have problems if they don't keep in mind 

that the security issues you have in the daytime are far different at night." 

Del Marva cited this statement in support of his conclusion that those who 

were in the Denny's "system" were well aware of the special dangers posed 

by operating a late-night restaurant. CP 216:8-11. 

WRBF moved to strike the Restaurant News article attached to Del 

Marva's declaration, contending that it was hearsay. CP 253-55. The trial 

court granted WRBF's motion, and struck the article on grounds of hearsay. 

CP 258:2. After oral argument the trial court issued a written opinion 

granting WRBF's motion to dismiss the case on summary judgment. 

CP 272. The trial court's review of relevant case law led her to the 

conclusion that "past criminal behavior on a premises does not provide 

reasonable foreseeability of future crimes unless such future crimes are of 

the exact nature of the past criminal behavior." CP 271 (emphasis 

supplied). The opinion also relied upon the evidence ofthe lack of previous 

recorded incidents in the manager's log submitted by Don Wold: "The 

10 



empty incident log kept by WRBF shows this restaurant is not accustomed 

to altercations on its premises." CP 273. 

The plaintiff moved for reconsideration of its opinion, based on two 

grounds: (1) the evidence presented at the time of summary judgment was 

misleading in light of evidence available as a result of depositions that were 

taken after the summary judgment materials had been filed; 4 and (2) the trial 

court had misapplied the standard for what was reasonably foreseeable: 

instead of requiring that the plaintiff establish that a previous incident of the 

"exact nature" had previously occurred on the premises, the plaintiff need 

only show that "the actual harm fell within a general field of danger which 

should have been anticipated." CP 287:7-8. The trial court denied the 

motion for reconsideration. CP 557. 

Crill timely appealed the trial court's dismissal. Crill made three 

assignments of error. The first was to the trial court's exclusion of the 

article in Restaurant News that demonstrated the awareness by Denny's of 

the higher risk of assaultive behavior that all-night restaurants face. The 

second issue was whether or not previous incidents of criminal conduct 

were required to establish that the defendant owed a duty of care to prevent 

4 In particular, the "incident log" upon which WRBF argued that it had no 
prior history of altercations was shown to be unreliable (CP 279-281 ); and 
Maryquince Winter testified in her deposition to notice at the time of the 
incident that a physical altercation was foreseeable. 
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business visitors from being assaulted. The third issue was whether or not 

the defendant had intervened in such a way as to create justifiable reliance 

on the part of Crill that she would be protected. 

The Court of Appeals did not request oral argument, but after 

briefing of the case was complete, the Court of Appeals entered an order 

staying proceedings pending the decision in the McKown case. On April 

10, 2015 the stay was lifted and the Court of Appeals requested 

supplemental briefing in light of the decision in the McKown case. Both 

parties filed supplemental briefs. 

On September 3, 2015 the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished 

opinion expressing no opinion as to whether Exhibit 8, the article from 

Restaurant News, should have been admitted, but affirmed the trial court's 

dismissal of the claim, summarizing its analysis as follows: 

We conclude that, as a matter of law, the Argonne Denny's 
should not have reasonably foreseen the attack on Star Crill for 
several legal reasons. First, evidence of the antisocial, unruly, or 
even hostile behavior of Jackie Legere is insufficient to establish 
that the Argonne Denny's should have reasonably anticipated a 
more serious misdeed. Second, no case has held that 
drunkenness alone creates a duty to remove one from business 
premises. Third, the only history of any fights at Argonne 
Denny's was an altercation in the parking lot, about which we 
have no details. Fourth, Crill's argument that a manager 
experienced in handling drunk customers is similar in nature to 
the contention that a business must hire a security guard, an 
argument already rejected by Washington courts. Nivens v. 7-11 
Hoagy's Corner, 133 Wn.2d at 205-06 (1997); Raider v. 
Greyhound Lines, Inc., 94 Wn. App. at 819 (1999). Fifth, for 
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public policy reasons, the law should reluctantly impose on a 
business the duty of police protection for its patrons. 

Appendix, at A-33. Crill filed a motion requesting publication of the 

opinion, which was denied on November 24, 2015. 

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

RAP 13 .4(b) lists the four reasons which will justify acceptance by 

the Supreme Court of a petition for review. Of those four, two apply to this 

case. First, under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case presents important issues of 

law reserved and unanswered in McKown v. Simon Property Group, Inc., 

182 Wn.2d 752,344 P.3d 661 (2015), citing Restatement (Second) ofTorts 

§ 344 (1965), comment f. Although there is reference in the Court of 

Appeals opinion to McKown and to § 344, comment f, the analysis quoted 

above demonstrates that the Court of Appeals did not fully consider whether 

the "place or character of the business" was sufficient to create a duty of 

care, which is to some extent understandable given the absence of 

controlling Washington authority on this issue. 

There is a substantial public interest in determining the 

circumstances under which the "place or character of the business" or 

"immediate or imminent harm" can give rise to a duty of care. The Court 

of Appeals acknowledged that McKown "left for an appropriate future case 

any inquiry concerning the circumstances under which the 'place or 

character' of a business can give rise to a duty to protect invitees against 
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third party criminal conduct." (Appendix, at A-30-31.) However, the Court 

of Appeals failed to recognize that the case it was deciding was such an 

"appropriate future case," and it failed to address the separate basis for 

liability recognized by McKown. 

And second, while the Court of Appeals did consider whether a duty 

of care arose because the defendant had "reason to know of immediate or 

imminent harm" (McKown, 182 Wn.2d at 768, 344 P.3d at 667), the Court 

of Appeals failed to recognize that there was a triable issue of fact that made 

summary judgment inappropriate. This failure to observe the well-accepted 

standard of review that all evidence must be reviewed on summary 

judgment in favor of the non-moving party is in conflict with existing law 

and provides the second basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

A. RAP 13.4(b )( 4): This case presents two issues of substantial 
public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court-the existence of a duty owed by Washington businesses 
to reasonably protect their customers from risks known by the 
"character" of the business or based on the risk of "imminent 
harm" to its customers. 

Many assaults occur on the premises of Washington businesses. In 

McKown this court recognized that there are circumstances under which a 

business owner may be liable for failing to take reasonable care to prevent 

an assault that occurs on the business premises. However, after recognizing 

that, even if no prior similar incidents have taken place, the place or 

character of the business may give rise to liability, the McKown court left 

14 



for a future case the determination of the type of evidence that would be 

sufficient to trigger such a duty. The instant case presents an ideal vehicle 

for answering the question that McKown left open. 

1. McKown recognized two distinct bases for establishing a duty 
under§ 344: immediate or imminent harm to customers, and 
history or experience showing the risk of harm to customers.

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