RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 25, 2016, 2:32 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 92656-5

Court of Appeals No. 31912-1-III

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STAR F. CRILL, individually,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

VS.

WRBF, INC., d/b/a DENNY'S RESTAURANT; DEBRA FOUTS and JANE DOE FOUTS, individually and as a marital community; JERRY FOUTS and JANE DOE FOUTS, individually and as a marital community; DENNY'S INC., a California corporation; JACKIE D. LEGERE, JR.; AUSTIN GARNER,

Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

## 4. Argument.

Ms. Crill's claim is that the dismissal of her lawsuit against Denny's raises an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals failed to properly analyze her evidence, and did not properly address the law. This is inaccurate. The Court of Appeals indeed thoroughly and properly applied the law relative to a business owner's liability for third party criminal conduct, including the guidance offered by McKown, and simply found that the conclusory evidence submitted was insufficient to establish any duty based solely on the fact that Denny's was open 24 hours, and may have customers that come after bars close. It also found that an assault that occurred quickly, and which was far outside the usual course of events for the experienced wait staff, had not put them on "notice" of an "imminent attack".

Moreover, Petitioner incorrectly claims that there is a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and other law necessitating review because Petitioner's facts were not correctly given "the benefit of the doubt." The relevant facts were reviewed in a light most favorable to Petitioner and the appropriate summary judgment standard was utilized, and no conflict exists to require review.

4.1 The evidence submitted created no basis to establish trial that Denny's had a duty to protect Ms. Crill from the criminal conduct of Austin Garner, based on the "character" of its business, or "imminence" of attack.

Petitioner relies solely on one comment to the Restatement (Second) of Torts §344, to claim that review of the Court of Appeals opinion affirming summary dismissal of her claim was inappropriate. However, while the Supreme Court in McKown v. Simon Property Group, Inc., 182 Wn.2d 752, 344 P.3d 661 (2015) found that §344 is "generally consistent with Washington law," and that comments d and f "generally describe the contours of the duty owed," this is somewhat different than Petitioner's assertion that the court in McKown "plainly recognized" that "comment f was part of the law of Washington." (Petition for Review, p. 15) And Petitioner ignores much of the McKown opinion related to limited duty of business owners for the criminal conduct of others on their premises.

The McKown court, while recognizing §344 is generally consistent with Washington law, specifically noted "however, this court has followed a careful course when considering imposing liability on landowners or possessors in general" and continually cautions "against treating the business as a guarantor of the invitee's safety from all third-party conduct

on the business premises." McKown, 82 Wn.2d at 764, 766. Noting that any such duty is the exception and not the rule, it further stated:

The court has continued to recognize under premises liability standards that the duty to protect invitees is not a broad duty but a limited one, in recognition that it is often unfair to place the burden of third-parties' criminal conduct on a business.

182 Wn.2d at 766.

Noting that the language of §344 "necessarily requires a narrow interpretation of a landowner's potential duty," the McKown court stated:

This language narrows the duty inquiry to whether the *specific acts* in question were foreseeable rather than whether the landowner should have anticipated any act from a broad array of possible criminal behavior or from past information from any source that some unspecified harm is likely.

### McKown, 182 Wn.2d at 767.

Comment d to §344 further clarifies that business owners are generally not responsible for the harm that results when strangers commit criminal acts on the business premises:

A...possessor of land who holds it open to the public for entry for his business purposes is not an insurer of the safety of such visitors against the acts of third persons...

All of this analysis must be taken into consideration, although the Petitioner focuses solely on comment f to §344 of the Restatement to allege two situations which may give rise to a duty: (1) where the landowner knows or has reason to know of immediate or imminent harm;

and (2) where the possessor of land knows, or has reason to know, based on the landowner's past experiences, the place of the business, or the character of the business, that there is a likelihood that harmful conduct of third-parties will occur on his premises.<sup>5</sup>

Under this analysis, the Court of Appeals properly found that there was insufficient evidence to create a foreseeable duty by Denny's under either of these scenarios. Because this case was decided on its very specific and narrow facts, acceptance of review would require this Court to issue an advisory general opinion on what types of evidence (lacking here) would be necessary, or what the constructs of a duty would be under other circumstances.

# a. Petitioner submits no evidence of "character" to create a duty by Denny's to protect patrons from co-customer assaults.

The Petitioner is incorrect that the Court of Appeals failed to properly analyze the potential the "character" of a business by improperly comingling the concepts of prior assaults at the Denny's at issue to determine "character." The Court of Appeals analyzed the McKown decision, and firmly stated the question on whether the character of Denny's Restaurants was a relevant factor in assessing the risk of assault

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The court in McKown, however, noted that Washington has rejected the "place" of the business as imposing a duty on business owners in urban areas of crime. See, Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Ass., 116 Wn.2d 217, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991).

and analyzed each potential element outlined in the Restatement, and in the McKown case. (Petitioner's Appendix A-21, A-30 – A-33) The existence of a duty is an issue of law, and depends on mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy and precedent; foreseeability is a factor attached to whether a duty is owed and is also a question of law for the court. McKown, 182 Wn.2d at 762.

The Court of Appeals recognized that in the case of a "character" of a business, if the owner should reasonably anticipate careless or criminal conduct on the part of third persons, he may be under a duty to take precautions against it, citing <a href="McKown">McKown</a>, 182 Wn.2d at 769-70; Restatement of Torts, §344 comment f. (Petitioner's Appendix A-30) The Court of Appeals recognized that the <a href="McKown">McKown</a> court had not yet considered whether the character of a business standing alone could invoke such a duty, because the sole evidence it was offered regarding place or character was a description of the Tacoma Mall as a "soft target" whose place or character made the harm reasonably foreseeable.

The Court of Appeals similarly noted that Star Crill presented no law and no evidence relative to the "character" of the Spokane Denny's on Argonne relative to customer assaults. Ms. Crill presented no decision that supported a ruling that an all night restaurant without a history of attacks should have anticipated criminal behavior:

Star Crill may contend that assaults at any Denny's Restaurant in the world could be relevant to placing the Argonne Denny's on notice of the foreseeability of assaults on its premises. Nevertheless, Crill only provides evidence of the death of an Orlando Denny's Restaurant employee who was stabbed to death at work by her estranged husband. The nature of Denny's Restaurants business likely had no bearing on his death.

### (Petitioner's Appendix A-32)

The Court of Appeals further noted that Ms. Crill's expert witness Fred Del Marva claimed that a Vice President of Risk Management for Denny's Customer Stores had stated restaurants must consider security issues present during the day time that are different from those issues at night, to opine that "Denny's nationwide is known for late hour criminal activities such as shootings, stabbings, murders and assaults"; however, there was no statistical evidence, no anecdotal evidence, or no details of a single incident. (Petitioner's Appendix, p. A-32)

Based on the complete lack of "character" evidence, (and not the lack of prior incidents), the Court of Appeals declined to find that there was a duty that Denny's should have foreseen a criminal assault between co-patrons.

The same lack of evidence can create no issue for this court to review as a matter of substantial public policy. While McKown recognized that there could be a future case in which the character evidence should be analyzed to determine the existence of a duty, this is

simply not it. The court is not required to accept baseless conclusions in analyzing the existence of a duty, absent evidence of some specificity regarding the character of a Denny's Restaurant other than a mere conclusion that it is open at a time when people attending it may have been drinking is simply insufficient under any standard, and creates no basis for this Court's review of these important issues.

# b. No evidence exists to create a duty by Denny's to prevent an "attack" on the Petitioner that was "imminent."

The Court of Appeals also properly analyzed the claim that Denny's had notice that an attack on Ms. Crill was "imminent," and failed to intercede. The evidence was undisputed, that the Austin Garner party was seated next to Ms. Crill and her companion 10 minutes prior to the time when the assault occurred and the police were called. Five minutes passed after they were seated, and before some verbal exchanges occurred, further reducing any potential notice of an "imminent" attack. The Court of Appeals noted that some verbal exchange does not qualify as a predictor of an imminent assault, but Ms. Crill has no other evidence. The brief time that the parties even had near one another is not evidence that raises the issue of an imminent attack to the level that this Court should review it to establish any precedent. Instead it is very fact specific to this

instance, and is simply insufficient to the matter of law, leaving no basis for further review.

# 4.2 The Petitioner asks this court to render a general advisory opinion, to analyze facts and law not at issue here.

Petitioner asks this court to essentially accept review to offer clarification of the general circumstances under which a business order could be subjected to liability for criminal assaults based on the "character" of a business, or imminence of harm and provide "guidance" as to the circumstances under which a duty could be imposed. However, this particular case was analyzed and determined based on existing Washington law and the very limited evidence proffered by the Petitioner relative to why this particular Denny's should be liable for an assault occurring within minutes of two patrons encountering one another. The Supreme Court avoids expressing opinions which would be in the nature of an advisory opinion. Swift v. Island County, 87 Wn.2d 348, 552 P.2d 175 (1976).

Here, as the Court of Appeals noted, the evidence of "character" is the opinion of Fred Del Marva that a restaurant is open for 24 hours will serve patrons coming from bar closures, which creates a likelihood of assaults. There was no evidence presented that the Spokane Valley Denny's "solicited" bar patrons at night or otherwise. There was no

evidence of prior assaults in the restaurant or in the area. There was no evidence that the restaurant was understaffed for the number of patrons. There was no evidence that the acting manager was untrained or inexperienced. There was no evidence that any Denny's experienced a high volume of crime after 11:00 p.m. There was no evidence that any Denny's experienced a high volume of assaults by co-patrons after 11:00 p.m. The only evidence the Petitioner proffered was that the Denny's was open between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 4:00 a.m. From this fact, the Petitioner would like the court to offer an opinion generally discussing what types of evidence would be necessary to establish the existence of a duty to predict and protect against criminal assault between patrons.

Based on the complete lack of "character" evidence or evidence of imminent attack to establish that Denny's should have foreseen the harm occurring here, this Court has no need to review this decision because any "guidelines" will have to go so far afield from the actual facts of this case as to be wholly advisory.

4.3 The Court of Appeals specifically reviewed the facts in a light most favorable to Petitioner, and no conflict exists between its decision and settled law.

In her quest for some basis to require review, the Petitioner claims that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with well accepted law

governing the standard of review on a summary judgment, claiming that the Court failed to review the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. However, the Court of Appeals specifically adopted that standard of review, noting "because Star Crill appealed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Denny's restaurant, we write the facts in a light most favorable to her." (Petitioner's Appendix, p. A-2) It also specifically stated the appropriate standard of review to construe all evidence and inferences in Ms. Crill's favor. (Petitioner's Appendix, p. A-16)

In this regard, Petitioner apparently relies on a claim that the "imminence" of the physical altercation was a question of fact, but again bases that opinion only on Mr. Del Marva's conclusion that the staff should have called the police sooner than the 10 minute time frame of events, because they should have recognized the situation had escalated sooner.

However, Petitioner's "spin" of these facts as some type of "slow buildup" of hostilities in which the staff recognized that there was trouble brewing, and had time to consider how they should handle it is simply not in the record, and the Court of Appeals did not improperly analyze this to Ms. Crill's disadvantage. Instead, the Court of Appeals properly analyzed the foreseeability of an imminent attack, but found neither facts nor law to

support such a claim here. It recognized that the only evidence of "imminence" was a verbal exchange, that did not escalate to any physical confrontation or threats until the actual incident. (Petitioner's App. 25-26)

Just as with "character" as a basis for duty, foreseeability remains one of the "elements of negligence", attached to the issues of whether defendant owed plaintiff a duty as to the "imminence" of an attack. See, McKown, 182 Wn.2d 752, 763 [citing Maltman v. Sauer, 84 Wn.2d 975, 530 P.2d 254 (1975).]

The Petitioner failed to cite any law or facts establishing that such evidence created a foreseeable duty. In fact, Petitioner previously argued only the "rescue doctrine", and that Denny's intervention was negligent once undertaken, not that the imminence of attack created a duty. Thus, no court was offered any sufficient law or evidence on the basis of this duty, and nothing in the Court of Appeals analysis of the facts in the record, its standard of review on the summary judgment, or whether a duty or breach existed conflicts with Washington law. Thus, no basis for review exists under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### 5. Conclusion.

For the foregoing reasons, the court should deny this Petition for Review.